# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Appellee

WILLIAM SCOTT, PAULETTA SCÓTI AND BRENDA GREENWOOD	FILED	
Appellant	AUG 0 7 2007	COPY
VS.	OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS	CAUSE NO.: 2007-TS-00470
TABITHA GAMMONS		

BRIEF OF APPELL'ANTS

# (ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Mississippi (Cause No.: M2003:406)

SPARKMAN-ZUMMACH, P.C. 7125 Getwell Road, Ste. 201 P.O. Box 266 Southaven, Mississippi 38671 (662) 349-6900

JOHN WATSON 8619 Highway 51 North P.O. Box 1366 Southaven, Mississippi 38671 (662) 393-9260

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### WILLIAM SCOTT, PAULETTA SCOTT AND BRENDA GREENWOOD

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I.

Whether the Trial Judge (unless indicated otherwise, when "Trial Judge" is written, it refers to either the Honorable Henry Lackey or the Honorable Andrew Howorth without distinction) erred in dismissing the cause of action brought by the Scott family against Tabitha Gammons on the alternative bases of *accord and satisfaction, judicial estoppel or equitable estoppel.* 

#### П.

Whether the Trial Judge erred in ruling that the Defendant below, Tabitha Gammons, was the beneficiary of a General Release which did not name her and, where Tabitha Gammons nor anyone on her behalf, paid any consideration in order to obtain a Release for Tabitha Gammons.

#### Ш.

Whether the Trial Judge erred in granting a Motion for Summary Judgment where the sole apparent reason for the dismissal of the action surrounded a General Release executed by the Scott family for the benefit of <u>another</u> alleged tortfeasor who paid consideration to obtain the Release and said Release did not identify or name the Defendant, Tabitha Gammons, as a party released.

#### IV.

Whether the Trial Judge erred in granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment when (1) the <u>first</u> Judge ruled that the issue of "adequate consideration" was a disputed issue of material fact and <u>vet</u> (2) later, a second Judge, in the same case, ruled that Tabitha Gammons had

. ....

not paid any consideration to obtain a release and <u>yet</u> the second Judge still granted Tabitha Gammons' Motion for Summary Judgment on that very issue.

r

:

ť

ţ

i

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### NATURE OF THE CASE AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

This case involves a two-car automobile accident which occurred in Marshall County, Mississippi on a very narrow road. The very standard, basic, head-on automobile accident involved the purported negligence of both drivers of both vehicles by each crossing the road's center line, (one vehicle was a Cadillac and the other vehicle was a pick-up truck) allegedly causing the accident and the resulting injuries to the occupants of the respective vehicles.

The occupants of the Cadillac were the Scott family. The Scott family made a claim against their own husband and father, William Scott, who was driving the Cadillac; the insurance carrier for the pick-up truck; as well as the under insured motorist coverage protecting the Cadillac in which they were occupants. The Scott family medical bills exceeded \$230,000.00.

The Scott family's claims were all settled without filing suit against Chris Conway, who was the owner of the pick-up truck; or William Scott, the owner and driver of the Cadillac; or the underinsured motorist carrier for the Cadillac.

A lawsuit was subsequently filed by the Scott family naming <u>only</u> Tabitha Gammons as the Defendant driver of the pick-up truck. (R. 1-5)

The responsive pleadings filed by Tabitha Gammons did not allege the comparative fault of an "actual" or different driver of the <u>pick-up</u> truck which hit the Scott Cadillac. (R. 7-10)

2 .

In fact, the Answer filed by Tabitha Gammons <u>ADMITTED</u> she was driving the pick-up. (R. Page 5, Paragraph 5) Later, she and her lawyers changed their Answer and said Chris Conway was driving the pick-up. (R. Page 70, Paragraph 5 and Paragraph 5, page 82)

After amending her Answer to say Chris Conway was driving, Tabitha Gammons and her lawyers chose then to pursue a tactic of moving to dismiss the Scotts' lawsuit on the bases of *accord and satisfaction, judicial estoppel and equitable estoppel* surrounding the fact that the occupants of the Cadillac had given a General Release to someone named Chris Conway, his father and Direct Insurance Company which would, according to Tabitha Gammons, cover any acts of Tabitha Gammons. (R. 7-10; 14-19; 80-84; 239-251)

After hearing Defendant's initial Motion for Summary Judgment, which had as its bases for dismissal the doctrines of accord and satisfaction, judicial estoppel, and equitable estoppel, the first Trial Judge (Hon. Henry Lackey) drafted and mailed a letter opinion indicating Tabitha Gammons would be <u>GRANTED</u> summary judgment and inviting suggestions from Plaintiffs' counsel if there was any disagreement with the Court's proposed findings or conclusions. (R. 265)

Plaintiffs' counsel responded to the letter with the invited criticism referring the Honorable Trial Court to *Smith v. Falke*, 474 So. 2d., 1044 (Miss. 1985) and *Country Club of Jackson, Mississippi, Inc., v. Saucier*, 498 So. 2d. 337, 339-340 (Miss. 1986), as has been briefed earlier by Plaintiffs in response to Defendant's initial Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 266-268)

Apparently in response to this letter, the Trial Judge, Judge Lackey, issued a diametrically opposite Order <u>DENYING</u> Summary Judgment, <u>but</u> ruling that absent fraud or <u>lack of</u>

consideration, Ms. Gammons would have been released from liability by the Releases executed by the Scott family in favor of Chris Conway. (R. 235-237)

Said Order was not appealable as a final Order inasmuch as it left open the issue of "fraud" and "adequate consideration" and did not dismiss the case.

Fraud had never been pleaded by the Plaintiffs nor the Defendant in this case.

Defendant then filed a Second Motion for Summary Judgment or in the Alternative Motion to Bifurcate (R. 239-243) alleging that the Defendant, Tabitha Gammons, should be dismissed from the action or the case should be bifurcated on the issue of fraud. (R. 239-243)

Plaintiffs responded indicating that fraud was never an issue in the case in obtaining a Release because Tabitha Gammons was never given a Release from the Scott family to begin with. (R. 252-268)

When the Second Motion for Summary Judgment or in the Alternative Motion to

Bifurcate was set for oral argument, Judge Howorth appeared for the first time.

Judge Howorth heard the argument of Plaintiffs and Defendant and had presumably

reviewed the pleadings and earlier rulings of Judge Lackey.

Judge Howorth ruled from the bench, following the arguments of counsel, dismissing the Plaintiffs' action. (R. 357) Judge Howorth found the following:

JUDGE HOWORTH: I mean <u>I don't think it's disputed that there was no</u> consideration paid on behalf of Tabitha Gammons so the claim of lack of consideration is seemingly irrefutable at this point. . . The Court believes it's appropriate to grant summary judgment as to the remaining claims and make this a final and appealable judgment. So in the event Judge Lackey or me and double your pleasure. There is twice the chance we have committed error here when you run both of us into a case, should be given an opportunity to have a higher court review this decision. So I will ask you to prepare an order granting summary judgment.

BY MR. ZUMMACH: So that the record is clear, Your Honor, it sounds like to me that because the fraud, misrepresentation, the other issues addressed by Judge Lackey's second order were never pled there was no way to really go forward.

BY THE COURT: And there is no evidence before the court of such claims. Not only not pled but don't seem to exist.

BY MR. ZUMMACH: But by its very nature and I think, Your Honor, mentioned that by its very nature on the issue of Judge Lackey's order related to lack of consideration do I hear the court saying that they are granting summary judgment as to that sole remaining issue that consideration was paid. I need to know exactly what the issue would be on appeal and -

BY THE COURT: I don't know that am prepared to make that finding. <u>There was</u> <u>no money given</u>. I think that consideration as we all know doesn't have to be money. And let's remember that that coverage can be complex and just because one company didn't pay any money doesn't mean that <u>it might not</u> have been obligated, subrogated or indemnified relative to another company and I would never couldn't imagine an insurance company<sup>1</sup> paying to settle unless it was certain what future liability <u>it might have</u> and for this reason they would insist on releases to everyone that you knew about or had reason to know about. And I think that is how the release should operate. I know that the law is all over the place on that point and that is where I'm going to come down on it today and if the supreme court wishes to speak differently I would invite them to do so.

BY MR. ZUMMACH: Right and I'm just trying to get [to the] issue, did Tabitha Gammons pay consideration[?]

BY THE COURT: The only finding I'm prepared to make on that is that there was no money paid by Tabitha Gammons. No evidence that there was any money paid by or on behalf of Tabitha Gammons. Whether or not that constitutes lack of consideration

BY MR. ZUMMACH: And if the court rules that, doesn't that place us . . . because that is what Judge Lackey's order says, now the judge has ruled there was no money paid by Tabitha Gammons.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The insurance company which paid the Scott family was Chris Conway's. Tabitha Gammons' insurance company paid nothing. Judge Howorth did not have to "imagine" State Farm being exposed after paying anything. State Farm didn't.

BY THE COURT: Judge Lackey says that the issue of lack of consideration  $might^2$  lead to a question of fact for the jury. I'm of the opinion that regardless of whether or not consideration was paid that summary judgment is proper and that preserves all issues to both of you. (Emphasis Added).

BY THE COURT: And I guess that puts us off for February or whatever. See if I can make good use of that time. I hear the chancery judge is trying to hold court up here and I want to do all I can to botch up the courtroom in Marshall County to keep them from having court.

Then, for some reason, Judge Lackey signed the Order granting Summary Judgment

based on Judge Howorth's bench ruling. (R. 357)

This appeal ensued on the final Order being entered.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

A two-car accident occurred in Marshall County, Mississippi on a very narrow road. A Cadillac was involved and a pick-up truck was involved. The occupants of the Cadillac were the Scott family. (R. 1-5)

The occupants of the Cadillac, to include the driver of the Cadillac, made a claim against Mr. Chris Conway, the owner of the pick-up, and his insurance carrier, Direct Insurance Company. <u>Suit was not filed</u>. In making that insurance claim, one occupant of the Cadillac, Mr. Scott, said that he witnessed the driver of the pick-up truck get out of the pick-up truck immediately after the accident. Mr. Scott indicated that a **girl** was driving the pick-up truck at the time of the accident and <u>not</u> a boy. Chris Conway is a boy. Tabitha Gammons is a girl. Both Gammons and Conway admitted being occupants of the pick-up truck. Chris Conway, the boy,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Judge Lackey's Order did not recite "might." Judge Lackey said it <u>was</u> a question of fact for the jury.

asserted in initial negotiations that he was driving the vehicle owned by his father, and the vehicle was insured in his father's name.

Direct Insurance Company, on behalf of the boy's father and the boy, who were the named insureds, paid the occupants of the Cadillac, the Scott family, a sum of money and prepared General Releases for each of the occupants of the Cadillac to execute in favor of <u>only</u> Chris Conway, his father, and Direct Insurance. No one else. (R. 89-114)

Tabitha Gammons, the girl, who it was alleged by the Scott family to have been driving the pick-up truck, did not pay any monies towards that settlement, nor did her insurance carrier (which was different from Chris Conway's) or anyone on her behalf pay any consideration or provide a Release to the Scott family to execute. <u>Chris Conway's lawyers and Chris Conway's</u> <u>insurance carrier did not include Tabitha Gammons in their Release or refer to her in any way</u>. (R. 97-114)

Suit was then filed. Neither Chris Conway nor his father were named as Defendants. (R. 1-5)

It was alleged in the Scott lawsuit that Tabitha Gammons was operating the pick-up truck which was the one owned by Chris Conway and his father. While the Complaint could have included a negligent entrustment claim against Chris Conway and/or his father for permitting Tabitha Gammons to drive, no claim was made <u>because</u> Chris Conway and his father, through their insurance company, had paid for and received a General Release (pre-suit) from the Scott family, and so therefore no allegation of negligent entrustment would be, or could be, alleged against them.

į

i

Instead, the allegations contained in the Complaint were solely against Tabitha Gammons for her negligent operation in driving the pick-up truck. (R. 1-5)

<u>The lawyers<sup>3</sup> for Tabitha Gammons</u> and Tabitha Gammons' insurance company, instead of filing an Answer and pleading the comparative fault of the "actual" or some other driver of the pick-up truck and go to trial, <u>initially admitted Tabitha Gammons was driving the pick-up truck</u>. (R. Page 5, Paragraph 5) Then, Tabitha Gammons changed her story and denied driving the truck. (R. Page 70, Paragraph 5 and Page 80, Paragraph 5)

Once she changed her story by way of an Amended Answer, Tabitha Gammons and her lawyers chose to instead pursue a tactic of moving to dismiss the lawsuit on the legal bases of (1) accord and satisfaction; (2) judicial estoppel; and/or (3) equitable estoppel. (R. 80-84)

The theory being on the part of the Defendant, Tabitha Gammons, the fact that the occupants of the Cadillac had given a General Release to Chris Conway, Chris' father and Direct Insurance Company, which would, according to Tabitha Gammons, cover and preclude any cause of action against Tabitha Gammons.

ł

1

i

ί

Instead of the Trial Court, as required by the case law of Mississippi in reference to Summary Judgments, assuming that the facts as alleged by Plaintiffs were true for purposes of summary judgment; that is that Tabitha Gammons was operating the vehicle and would therefore have independent legal liability than that of the owners of the vehicle; the Court examined whether or not solely the Release given to Chris Conway and his father released Tabitha Gammons from legal liability.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Amazingly, some of the same lawyers who originally represented Chris Conway appear on behalf of Tabitha Gammons once she was sued. One of the law firms represented the legal interests of William Scott and now takes a position adverse to him in the very same claim.

After initially admitting to driving the pick-up, the Appellee, Tabitha Gammons, claimed she was <u>not</u> driving the pick-up truck. In another breath, she claimed that the Release given to Chris Conway released her for her liability for driving the pick-up truck.

Apparently overlooked by the Trial Court is the fact that <u>if</u> Tabitha Gammons was <u>not</u> driving the pick-up truck, she would not be in need of a Release. If she was <u>not</u> driving the pick-up truck, or Plaintiffs did not prove at trial that she was driving the pick-up truck, she would have no legal liability, and her insurance carrier would not have to be concerned with indemnification.

Instead, the lawyers and respectfully, the Trial Court, placed the proverbial horse before the cart. The insurance carrier for Tabitha Gammons (which was a different insurance company than Chris Conway's) was obviously concerned that they would have financial liability for the acts of Tabitha Gammons, so they attempted, and succeeded, in having Tabitha Gammons dismissed early in the litigation by claiming that she was included in the General Releases given to Chris Conway by the Scott family.

The Trial Court and the Appellee overlooked the issue that Chris Conway and his father were exposed to potential independent legal liability under independent theories in tort even if Tabitha Gammons, instead of Chris Conway, was driving the vehicle. Chris Conway's insurance carrier recognized this fact and accordingly negotiated his and his father's release by paying consideration to the Scott family before suit was filed.

i

It must be noticed that the Scott family's settlement with Chris Conway, his father and Direct Insurance Company came long <u>before</u> any suit was filed by the Scott family against Tabitha Gammons.

Hopefully, the following hypothetical is helpful to the review of this Honorable Court:

If a hypothetical lawsuit had been brought against Chris Conway, his father and Tabitha Gammons by the Scotts under alternative theories of liability, wherein the Scotts believed that Tabitha Gammons was driving the pick-up truck, but after hearing that Chris Conway was claiming to have been driving the pick-up, could allege in their hypothetical lawsuit alternative theories — that either Chris Conway or Tabitha Gammons was driving the pick-up truck in question, and it would be for the jury to determine who was the driver.

The jury at trial, in the hypothetical case, could determine that Tabitha Gammons was driving the vehicle, and at the same time conclude that Chris Conway was her host and was negligent in permitting her to drive the vehicle with which she was unfamiliar or unqualified, thus, exposing Chris Conway to independent legal liability for the negligent entrustment, coupled with Tabitha Gammons' liability for her independent acts of negligence in the operation of the vehicle. The jury could find that Chris Conway's earlier admissions about himself driving the pick-up truck were to stay out of trouble with his dad for having let his girlfriend drive the pick-up. <u>Or</u> the jury could believe that Chris Conway <u>was</u> driving, and Tabitha was not, and the Scotts would lose their lawsuit as to Tabitha.

If during the pendency of the hypothetical litigation, Chris Conway approached the Plaintiffs to settle any disputed liability only he might have, the Plaintiffs would be free to settle with Chris Conway, his father, and his insurance company and proceed against only Tabitha Gammons.

Tabitha Gammons, of course, if she did not settle in the hypothetical case with Plaintiffs, could at trial, and in her pleadings allege that Chris Conway was driving the pick-up truck and therefore possibly comparatively free herself from any legal exposure at trial.

l

ſ

,

#### In reality, nothing different in the actual case at hand has occurred.

Chris Conway, his father, and his father's insurance company settled with Plaintiffs for any alleged/disputed liability they may have had under any theory of liability <u>before</u> suit was filed. Chris and his father received a General Release. Tabitha Gammons chose not to take part in that Release, and she was not included in the Release. Therefore, the hypothetical lawsuit was been pared down in the actual lawwsuit from three possible defendants to only one defendant, Tabitha Gammons.

#### **COURSE OF THE RELEVANT PROCEEDINGS**

On August 30, 2005, a Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum in Support thereof was filed by the Defendant, Tabitha Gammons. (R. 89-95)

A response was made by Plaintiffs in the form of a Response to Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 322-345)

Defendant then filed her Rebuttal on or about November 8, 2005. (R. 212-219)

Following the hearing on Defendant's Motion, the Trial Court indicated that it would issue its Ruling after taking the matter under advisement. (Transcript of Proceedings, Volume 4, page 25)

On January 30, 2006, for some reason unknown to counsel for the Scott family, the Honorable Judge Henry Lackey wrote a letter to Plaintiffs' counsel and copied Defendant's counsel, Brian Hyneman and Kent Smith. (R. 265)

Judge Lackey's letter indicated that the attorneys for Tabitha Gammons had been requested by the Judge to prepare an Order <u>GRANTING</u> Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

Plaintiffs' counsel was at a loss to say the least. The Court had instructed counsel in open Court and on the record that the Court would prepare the Order once the Trial Judge made a decision.

The undersigned knew of no contact between the Trial Judge and the defense counsel requesting defense counsel to prepare an Order.

In any event, the exemplar or proposed Order <u>GRANTING</u> Gammons' Motion for Summary Judgment was provided to counsel for the Scott family on or about January 30, 2006, along with Judge Lackey's letter.

Said letter invited the Plaintiffs' counsel's "criticism or comment." (R. 265)

As requested, Plaintiffs' counsel wrote the Honorable Trial Judge and copied adverse counsel. (R. 266)

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