#### I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET NO. 2007-TS-00470

WILLIAM SCOTT, PAULETTA SCOTT AND BRENDA GREENWOOD

**APPELLANTS** 

APPELLEE

VS.

or recusal.

#### **TABITHA GAMMONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualifications

- 1. Hon. Henry Lackey, Trial Judge
- 2. Hon. Andrew Howorth, Trial Judge
- 3. William Scott, Pauletta Scott and Brenda Greenwood, Plaintiffs/Appellants

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

#### VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court applies de novo standard of review to a granting of summary judgment by a trial court. *Moss v. Batesville Casket Company*, 935 So.2d 393, 398 (Miss.2006). "The moving party has the burden of demonstrating that [no] genuine issue of material fact exists, and the non-moving party must be given the benefit of the doubt concerning the existence of a material fact." *Howard v. City of Biloxi*, 943 So.2d 751, 754 (Miss.2006). If after this review any triable issues of material fact exist, this Court will reverse the trial court's decision to grant summary judgment. *Price v. Purdue Pharma Co.*, 920 So.2d 479, 483 (Miss.2006).

Defendant avers that regardless of the reasoning behind the granting of summary judgment, the resulting dismissal was proper under de novo review. It is easy to blur the position of Conway and Gammons in an effort to defeat summary judgment. It is certainly a main issue in the underlying case. However, it has no bearing on the issues before the Court. Regardless of who was driving, the all claims arising out of the September 8, 2000 accident were discharged through settlement prior to plaintiffs filing their cause of action against the defendant.

It is clear that plaintiffs and/or their counsel induced payments for settlement of all claims involving the September 8, 2000 accident by their representations; accepted payment of settlement benefits; executed releases; and executed sworn judicial documents under the representation that Christopher Conway was driving the vehicle. Once the money was received and the checks cashed, plaintiffs decided to wash themselves of their previous representations and acts in order to collect again under the allegations that Tabitha Gammons was the driver of the vehicle.

Summary judgment is proper under accord and satisfaction as Direct, the primary insurer of the vehicle occupied by Conway and Gammons, paid funds in exchange for a release of all claims.

Regardless of who was driving the vehicle, be it Conway, Gammons or Santa Claus, these payments would constitute consideration for the releases.

In the alternative, summary judgment was proper under the theory of judicial estoppel. Pauletta Scott and Brenda Greenwood executed sworn documentation which averred that Christopher Conway was the driver of the Spencer vehicle. Counsel for the two approved these sworn documents. As a result of these actions, plaintiffs' claims are precluded. Pauletta Scott and Brenda Greenwood's claims are precluded by virtue of their sworn statements. The claims of William Scott are precluded given the actions of his counsel who binds him with his representations.

In the alternative, summary judgment was proper under the theory of equitable estoppel. Based upon the fundamental notions of justice and fair dealing, equitable estoppel works to preclude the claims against Tabitha Gammons. Plaintiffs represented that their claims were ripe for settlement upon the basis that Christopher Conway was driving, and now seek to deny the representations which induced payment to them.

Reviewing the case de novo, it is clear that summary judgment was proper on any one, if not all, of the theories placed forth by defendant. Plaintiffs made statements and representations which induced settlement, and now seek to disavow their previous representations in hopes of a second payday.

#### VII. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

ISSUE I: Whether the Full and Final Release and Indemnifying Agreement and/or Absolute Release and Settlement with Covenants discharge claims against Tabitha Gammons, thereby precluding the claims of the plaintiffs against her.

Throughout their brief, plaintiffs attempt to separate the insurers for John Spencer/Christopher Conway from the insurer for Tabitha Gammons as if they were two separate entities. Defendant finds it imperative to correct the numerous misstatements which reflect that John Spencer/Christopher Conway and Tabitha Gammons were insured by separate policies issued through separate insurers by referring to "Chris Conway's insurance carrier" or "her insurance carrier".

Certainly Tabitha Gammons is insured through a separate insurer, yet plaintiffs fail to realize or refuse to understand that Direct is also the insurer for Tabitha Gammons (assuming arguendo that she was the driver of the Spencer vehicle). Direct insured the vehicle owned by John Spencer, and would insure the driver of that vehicle whether that driver is Christopher Conway or Tabitha Gammons. "The longstanding rule in Mississippi is that the insurer for owner of the vehicle involved in the accident is the primary insurer." United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. John Deere Ins. Co., 830 So.2d 1145, 1148 (Miss.2002); See also State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Universal Underwriters Ins. Co., 797 So.2d 981, 983 (Miss.2001); Travelers Indem. Co. v. Chapell, 246 So.2d 498, 505 (Miss.1971). Under this rule, Direct General Insurance Company is the insurer for the driver of the Spencer vehicle, and owes that driver the duty of a defense and indemnification.

Plaintiffs repeatedly contend that Conway and his father had potential independent liability based upon a negligent entrustment claim. Plaintiffs assertion is disingenuous given the past representations made by plaintiffs' counsel. In correspondence of May 28, 2002, plaintiffs' counsel

dictates the terms of the settlement "under Chris Conway's policy", and requesting the "Declarations Page indicating that Christopher Conway's cumulative limits are \$50,000.00 inasmuch as I understand that Tabitha Gammons will be paid...for her claim." (R.248). This correspondence makes it crystal clear that plaintiffs were proceeding with settlement with the understanding that Christopher Conway was driving the vehicle. If this is not so, why would plaintiffs' counsel not dispute the payment of settlement funds to Tabitha Gammons?

Plaintiffs hypothetical included in their brief is just that – a hypothetical. Fact is, plaintiffs never alleged nor hinted negligent entrustment until having their backs against the wall and facing summary judgment. This is clear given the representations made in the May 28, 2002 correspondence and further supported by the second correspondence issued by plaintiffs' counsel. This correspondence was issued to State Farm adjuster Mike Mulrooney on June 5, 2002. In this correspondence, plaintiffs' counsel indicates that it is the "Scotts desire to proceed with settlement terms as set out in my May 28th correspondence", and check with counsel in regards to "proceeding with the minor settlement and closing this case out." (R.221).

As insurer for the driver of the Spencer vehicle, Direct paid benefits to plaintiffs and presented releases to be executed by each plaintiff. (R.97-114). State Farm, as insurer of William Scott, paid benefits and presented releases to be executed by the plaintiffs. (R.115-129).

The Direct releases defined "Released Parties" as "John Spencer and Direct....and any other person,....who may, in any manner, be liable...." (R.97; 103; 109). These releases also worked to release "any and all claims of every kind and description that the Undersigned....have now or may ever have, both direct and derivative, against the Released Parties herein related to such incident." (R.98; 104; 110).

The State Farm releases defines "Releasees" as "State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company....and any and all other persons,....known or unknown...." (R.115-116; 123-124). In executing the releases, plaintiffs agreed to "release, acquit and forever discharge" the releasees from "any and all causes of actions, claims and demands....and compensation whatsoever, on account of, in ay way growing out of, any and all known and unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, bodily and personal injuries, and damages...resulting or to result from an accident which occurred on or about September 8, 2000...." (R.115-116; 123-124). Further, these releases depicted the accident wherein the Scott vehicle "was allegedly struck by an automobile being driven by Christopher D. Conway...." (R.115; 123).

The releases executed by the plaintiffs constitute valid contracts wherein they agreed to "fully, completely and finally release and forever discharge and acquit John Spencer and Direct ...and any other person, firm or corporation who may, in any manner, be liable ...", and release "State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company....and any and all other persons,....known or unknown...." (R.97; 103; 109; 115-116; 123-124).

When construing a contract, it will be read as a whole, so as to give effect and purpose to the entire contract. *Brown v. Hartford Ins. Co.*, 606 So.2d 122, 126 (Miss. 1992). A reviewing court should seek the legal purpose and intent of the parties from an objective reading of the words used in the contract to the exclusion of extrinsic or parol evidence. Said court is not at liberty to infer intent contrary to that emanating from the text of the contract at issue. *Cooper v. Crabb*, 587 So.2d 236, 239 (Miss. 1991). Only when a contract is unclear or ambiguous can a court go beyond the text. *Pursue Energy Corp. v. Perkins*, 558 So.2d 349, 352 (Miss. 1990).

Under this direction, the court first looks to the "four corners" of the release. If, and only if,

ambiguity causes the terms of the contract to be unclear is extrinsic or parol evidence allowed in order to better determine the intent behind the contract. In the present matter, the plaintiffs' cause of action against Tabitha Gammons is precluded regardless of how the Court reads the releases. When looking at the "four corners" of the releases, they clearly discharge and acquit the named parties and all others who may be liable. Should the Court find the language ambiguous, the Court can look to the May 28, 2002 and June 5, 2002 correspondence from plaintiffs' counsel to realize the intent of the plaintiffs was to fully and finally settle all claims related to the September 8, 2000 accident.

The language contained within the various releases is comparable to that discussed in *Royer Homes of Mississippi, Inc. v. Chandeleur Homes, Inc.*, 857 So.2d 748 (Miss. 2003). In *Royer*, a manufactured homes dealer, Royer Homes, entered into a contract with a manufacturer (Chandeleur) for sales and distribution of its product. Ultimately, Royer Homes filed a cause of action in Pike County for unpaid warranty service and accounts receivable. This suit remained dormant, and Chandeleur was purchased by Champion Enterprises, Inc. while the Pike County action was pending. In turn, Royer sued Champion in Hinds County alleging breach of contract, fraud and unfair trade violations, among others. The parties to the Hinds County action agreed to a settlement wherein Royer Homes executed a "Confidential Settlement, Release, and Indemnity Agreement" which released "any and all claims which arose or may arise from any prior business dealings." *Id.* 

Subsequent to that settlement, Royer Homes resurrected the Pike County action against Chandeleur. Champion argued these claims were precluded under accord and satisfaction as they were released by the settlement documents executed in the Hinds County action. The Pike County Circuit Court agreed and Royer Homes appealed the decision. In affirming the lower court's

decision, the Mississippi Supreme Court found the release to be clear and, by its plain language, constituted accord and satisfaction. *Id*.

The present matter is akin to *Royer*. Plaintiffs settled a claim under the premise that Christopher Conway was the driver of the other vehicle. Monetary compensation was provided in exchange for a full and complete release of all claims against all person who may be liable. Plaintiffs accepted the funds then filed suit against Gammons alleging that she was, in fact, the driver of the other vehicle. Unfortunately for the plaintiffs, they had executed binding releases which worked to release all claims involving the September 8, 2000 accident – including any possible claims against Tabitha Gammons.

Plaintiffs cite two Mississippi cases, *Smith v. Falke*, 474 So.2d 1044 (Miss.1985) and *Country Club of Jackson, Mississippi, Inc. v. Saucier*, 498 So.2d 337 (Miss.1986) to support their argument that their cause of action against the defendant is not precluded because she was not specifically mentioned in the release. Both cases involved the review of releases wherein a third party was attempting to obtain benefit from the release of another tortfeasor. The Court, in both cases, rejected the argument of accord and satisfaction opining that the deciding factor in both cases was the question of intent. "[A]n injured party executing a release incident to a settlement with one tortfeasor releases others by whom or on whose behalf no considerations have been given only where the intent to release the others is manifest." *Saucier*, 498 So.2d at 339-40 citing *Smith v. Falke*, 474 So.2d 1044, 1046 (Miss. 1985).

While Tabitha Gammons may not have been specifically identified within the subject releases, plaintiffs made their intent quite obvious through correspondence of May 28, 2000 and June 5, 2000. The May 28, 2000 correspondence wherein plaintiffs' counsel confirms that Tabitha

Gammons was to receive settlement funds from Direct while seeking information regarding additional or excess coverage insuring Christopher Conway. (R.248-249). Plaintiffs' intent is stated more directly in the June 5, 2000 correspondence. "It is not the Scotts' intent to proceed as it relates to this witness....This is also to confirm that the Scotts desire to proceed with the settlement terms as set out in my May 28th correspondence...." (R.221).

To-accept the argument that plaintiffs did not intend to settle all claims arising out of the September 8, 2000 accident when the releases were executed would completely ignore the representations made by their counsel. Further, Direct has the duty, as insurer of Tabitha Gammons, to defend and indemnify Tabitha Gammons from any allegations related to the September 8, 2000.7 It is absurd to think that Direct Insurance would pay over \$40,000.00 to settle plaintiffs' claims and not settle any and all claims arising out of the accident against all those involved – including Gammons.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Direct General Insurance Company continues to incur defense costs as they continue to defend Tabitha Gammons to date.

ISSUE II: Whether the payment of settlement benefits by the insurer of the vehicle, and consequently, the insurer of Tabitha Gammons, would constitute consideration or something of value to preclude the claims of the plaintiffs against Tabitha Gammons under the theory of accord and satisfaction.

The doctrine of accord and satisfaction has four basic requirements: (1) something of value must be offered; (2) offer must be accompanied by acts and declarations which amount to a condition that if the thing offered is accepted, it is accepted in satisfaction; (3) party offered the thing of value is bound to understand that if he takes it, he takes it subject to the conditions; and (4) party must actually accept the item offered. *Medlin v. Hazlehurst Emergency Physicians*, 889 So.2d 496, 498 (Miss 2004).

Plaintiffs repeatedly contend that "Tabitha Gammons never offered anything" or "has never paid anything of value to the Scott family", therefore the requirements of accord and satisfaction were not met. As explained *supra*, Direct was the insurer for the driver of the Spencer vehicle whether that be Christopher Conway or Tabitha Gammons. Assuming *arguendo* that Tabitha Gammons was, in fact, the driver of the Spencer vehicle as plaintiffs allege, the \$40,000.00 paid to William Scott, Pauletta Scott and Brenda Greenwood would surely constitute "something of value". Gammons clearly meets the first requirement.

Once plaintiffs received the \$40,000.00 in settlement benefits, they executed releases which dictated that the settlement was in satisfaction of all claims held against the "Released Parties". Specifically, plaintiffs agreed that they were

"legally competent to execute this Release; that before voluntarily executing the same, [they were] fully informed of the contents of this Release and its meaning and has executed it, voluntarily, with the full knowledge that [they were] releasing and discharging forever any and all claims of every kind and description which [they]....have now or may ever have against the Released Parties arising out of the

September 3, 2000, incident mentioned herein.8

(R.100; 106; 112). This language clearly records plaintiffs intent to accept the settlement funds in satisfaction of the claims held against the released parties, thereby satisfying the second requirement under the analysis.

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